68976-2

68976-2

No. 689762

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I

HU YAN, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of GUIZHEN YAO, Deceased, Plaintiff/Appellant

VS.

PLEASANT DAY ADULT FAMILY HOME, INC. P.S., a Domestic Corporation, YU CHEN YIN and Unknown JOHN DOES, Defendants/Respondents

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF KING
CAUSE No: 689762
HONORABLE JOHN ERLICK, Trial Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES C. BUCKLEY, WSBA #8263
ERICA B. BUCKLEY, WSBA#40999
BUCKLEY & ASSOCIATES
Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant
675 South Lane Street, Suite 300
Seattle, WA 98104
Telephone (206) 622-1100

I. INTRODUCTION

On July 7, 2008, Guizhen Yao (Yao) was admitted to Pleasant Day Adult Family Home (Pleasant Day) because she could no longer care for herself. She suffered from Parkinson's disease and dementia, and had symptoms of daily random panic attacks, hallucinations, delusions, irritability, aggravation, stumbling, wandering and exit seeking, fear of falling and a need for one-on-one care while walking. Yao sustained several falls and multiple injuries within two months after she was admitted to Pleasant Day, which was solely owned by Yu Chen Yin (Yin) who was the only caregiver at Pleasant Day at the time. In less than two months, Yao fell on her face outside Pleasant Day and fractured her chin which resulted in her death.

Yao's widow and personal representative, Hu Yan (Yan), sued Pleasant Day and Yin, alleging they were negligent and committed neglect of a vulnerable adult and breached a contract (Yao's family paid Yin an extra \$500.00 per month for Yin to provide an extra caregiver for Yao which Yin did not do). The government was paying Yin approximately \$3,000.00 per month to take care of Yao. The law prohibits an adult family home from charging a vulnerable adult and/or her family extra money for care and from accepting and/or retaining a resident that he or she cannot provide for safely. See WAC 388-78-A244. The Washington

State Legislature recently created a cause of action to protect vulnerable adults from neglect. *See* RCW 74.34.200 (1). RCW 74.34.020 (9) defines neglect in relevant part as:

(a) a pattern of conduct or inaction by a person or entity with a duty of care...that fails to avoid or prevent physical or mental harm or pain to a vulnerable adult;...

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Assignments of Error

- The trial court erred in entering the order of April 11, 2012, denying plaintiff's motion to strike defendants' "empty chair" and affirmative defenses.
- 2. The trial court erred in denying plaintiff's motion to exclude all statements and evidence alleging fault, liability and/or responsibility of Yao's family, healthcare providers and/or the Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS) for Yao's injury and death.
- The trial court erred in denying plaintiff's motion to exclude Katherine Ander's (Ander) opinion that Yin's conduct did not constitute neglect.
- 4. The trial court erred in entering the order of April 10, 2012, denying plaintiff's motion to prohibit all experts from testifying that Yin's conduct did not constitute neglect.

Brief of Appellant - 2

- The trial court erred in admitting DSHS investigator Ander's testimony that she conducted an investigation into the alleged neglect of Yao by Yin and that she did not find neglect.
- The trial court erred in denying plaintiff's motion to exclude evidence and allegations that Yao's healthcare providers did not report neglect.
- 7. The trial court erred in entering the order of April 10, 2012, denying plaintiff's motions to exclude all allegations of and that no mention be made that Yao's healthcare providers and doctors and the Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS) did not report neglect and as such, Yin's conduct and care provided to Yao was not neglect.
- 8. The trial court erred in entering the order of April 11, 2012, granting defendants' motion to dismiss plaintiff's breach of contract claim.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Did the trial court err in its failure to strike Yin's "empty chair" defenses and in admitting evidence that Yao's family, healthcare providers and DSHS were at fault for Yao's injury and death when the alleged "empty chair" parties did not have a duty to protect Yao from the neglect and negligent acts of Yin and where evidence and statements alleging fault and responsibility by said parties is irrelevant and highly prejudicial under ER 402 and 403? (Assignments of Error Number 1 and Number 2).

- 2. Did the trial court err in admitting DSHS investigator Katherine Ander's and Yin's expert Elizabeth Johnston's opinions that Yin's conduct and the care she provided or failed to provide to Yao did not constitute neglect when neglect of a vulnerable adult was one of plaintiff's cause of action? (Assignments of Error Number 3 and 4).
- 3. Did the trial court err in admitting the testimony of DSHS investigator Katherine Ander that she conducted an investigation and did not find neglect of Yao by Yin? (Assignment of Error Number 5).
- 4. Did the trial court err in admitting evidence that Yao's healthcare providers did not report neglect and that the failure to report neglect means there was no neglect? (Assignments of Error Numbers 6 and 7).
- 5. Did the trial court err in dismissing plaintiff's cause of action for breach of contract? (Assignment of Error Number 8).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the jury verdict and judgment entered by the King County Superior Court in favor of respondents/defendants Pleasant Day and Yin and against appellant/plaintiff Yan.

B. PLEADINGS AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

On October 6, 2010, Yan filed a Summons and Complaint against Pleasant Day Adult Family Home and Yu Chen Yin (hereinafter Yin) in King County Superior Court. CP 1-5, 15-18.

On October 26, 2010, Yan filed a 13-page Civil Rule 15 permissible amended complaint against Yin alleging claims for "damages for personal injury, wrongful death, RCW 4.20 et seq; neglect of a vulnerable adult, RCW 74.34 et seq; long-term care resident rights violations, RCW 70.129 et seq; and breach of contract." CP 20-32. On December 16, 2010, Yin filed an answer and affirmative defenses to Yan's amended complaint. CP 33-42.

On March 15, 2012, Yan filed a motion to amend his complaint. CP 724-728. On Mach 30, 2012, Yan filed another motion to amend his second amended complaint. CP 1521-1527. On April 10, 2012, the trial court entered an order granting Yan's motion to amend his complaint. CP 1823.

On March 26, 2012, Yan and Yin filed several motions in limine. CP 970-1029, 1052-1056, 1066-1070, 1158-1165, 1168-1179, 1278-1283, and 852-859. On April 10, 2012, the trial court entered orders on most of the parties' motions in limine. CP 1837-1829 and 1830-1832. Yan's No. 2 special motion in limine was a motion to exclude evidence and statements concerning fault, liability and responsibility of Yao's family, healthcare

providers and DSHS. CP 1168-1179, RP 94:12-96:12. The trial court orally denied the motion on April 10, 2012. RP Vol. II, 94:10-96:12.

On March 30, 2012, Yan filed a motion to strike Yin's "empty chair" and affirmative defenses. CP 1506-1516. On April 11, 2012 the trial court denied Yan's motion to strike. CP 1837-1838.

On March 28, 2012, Yin filed a motion to strike Yan's claims for breach of contract and for neglect of a vulnerable adult. CP 1417-1428. On April 11, 2012, the trial court granted Yin's motion to dismiss Yan's breach of contract claim but denied her motion to dismiss Yan's neglect of a vulnerable adult claim. CP 1842-1843.

On April 5, 2012 the court convened for pretrial matters and the trial judge discussed procedures and expectations in his court, i.e. no "speaking objections," only one attorney speaks on the same issue, sidebars are mic'ed and recorded, etc. Hearing on motions in limine pp. 1-144.

On April 9, 2012, the court reconvened for trial and for additional oral argument on the pretrial motions and motions in limine. RP Vol I, 3-85.

On April 23, 2012, after all of the evidence was presented and the jury was instructed by the trial court and the parties made closing arguments, the case was submitted to the jury for deliberation. RP Vol X, 1191:15-1260:16.

On April 25, 2012, the jury returned a defense verdict. RP Vol XI, 1274-1276.

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 7, 2008, Yao was admitted to Pleasant Day¹ as a full time resident. RP Vol. III, 245:1-12; Vol. VI-C, 31:19-24. Yao suffered from Parkinson's disease and dementia. RP Vol. V, 529:14-25. Yao was incapable of caring for herself when admitted to Pleasant Day family home facility. *Id.* Yao required significant medication and treatment for her illness. Vol. V, 530: 24-536:25. Yao's diagnosed symptoms included daily random recurring panic attacks, hallucinations, delusions, irritability, aggravation, stumbling, fear of falling and a need of one-on-one care while walking. RP Vol. V, 531:2-534:11.

Prior to being admitted to Pleasant Day, Yao's primary caregiver was Hu Yan, her 81 year old husband. RP Vol. II, 180:7-8; 193:10-196:7. The Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS) was providing an in-home caregiver for approximately three hours per day. RP Vol. III, 239:23-240:1. Due to Yao's husband's age and health concerns, Yao's doctors and healthcare providers and family felt it was best to place Yao in an adult family home or a nursing home. RP Vol. III-A, 7:5-24.

Brief of Appellant - 7

*

¹ Pleasant Day is an adult home which provide in-home care services to live-in adults who needs assistance.

During late June 2008, respondent Yu Chen Yin (hereinafter Yin), the owner of Pleasant Day and primary caregiver for the facility, met with Yao and her husband, daughter and son to decide whether she would accept Yao as a resident of Pleasant Day. RP Vol. VI-C, 33:17-36:22. Prior to Yao becoming a resident of Pleasant Day, Yin received and read a copy of the DSHS assessment for Yao. RP Vol. VI-C, 36:4-22. The assessment contained, inter alia, information about Yao's medical condition and limitations and the care and services Yao needed. RP Vol. III, 271:10-279:23. Yin entered into a contract with DSHS to provide the services listed in the assessment. RP Vol. III-C, 24:1-26:5. DSHS paid Yin approximately \$3,000.00 per month to provide Yao the care and services listed in the assessment. RP Vol. III, 279:10-23. Yin was required by law to provide the services agreed to in the contract. RP VI-C, 24:1-26:5.

On July 7, 2008, Yao moved into Pleasant Day. RP Vol. VI-C, 31:19-24. After one day of providing care to Yao, Yin wrote in Yao's chart notes that she could not keep Yao safe. RP Vol. VII-A, 4:7-5:9, 27:12-16. Yin was required by law to discharge Yao out of Pleasant Day if she could not keep her safe. RP Vol. III, 283:7-16, Vol. V, 634:6-9, 641:18-642:18. Yin was aware of this legal requirement. RP Vol. VII, 741:13-17. Yin could have discharged Yao immediately by calling 911 and sending Yao to an emergency room at a hospital. RP Vol. III, 284:16-

1

285:2. Yin's other option was to give the family a 30-day move out notice. RP Vol. VII-A, 68:5-71:19. Yin had successfully used the 30-day move out notice process "not too long before Yao became a resident" of Pleasant Day. RP Vol. VII, 749:18-23. Yao's family agreed to pay Yin \$500 per month for Yin to hire an extra caregiver for Yao. RP Vol. VI-B, 16:13-18.

In addition to the payment by the government, On July 7, 2008, Yao's family paid \$500 for the month of July 2008. RP Vol. VI-B, 6:22-7:12; Vol. VI-C, 50:3-15. The family also paid Yin \$500 for the month of August 2008. *Id.* Yin did not hire an extra caregiver for Yao. RP Vol. V, 647:5-11. Yin told DSHS investigator Katherine Ander that the \$500 she received from Yao's family was for an extra caregiver and that she tried but was unable to find an extra caregiver for Yao. RP Vol. V, 620:12-622:10. This required \$500 extra payment violated the law per Ander. RP Vol. V, 6:41-642:23; 623:5-24.

On July 19, 2008, July 20, 2008; August 1, 2008, August 15, 2008, August 16, 2008, August 20, 2008, and August 30, 2008, Yao sustained falls outside and inside Yin's facility. RP Vol. VI-C, 60:10-20; Vol. VII-A, 40:15-42:5; 54:11-55; 58:1-25; 67:21-62:1, 65:7-67:8. Yao sustained multiple injury from these falls, including back, ribs, hip, and facial injuries. *Id.* Yao made repeated attempts to escape from Pleasant Day. RP

Vol. VII-A, 58:14-60:2. Yao was on several medications for her Parkinson's and dementia conditions. RP Vol. VI-C, 44:4-46:6.

Yin owns Pleasant Day, an adult family home providing care to paying residents who are unable to care for themselves. RP Vol. VI-C, 7:13-19. Yin had residents whom live-in care charges were paid for by the government. RP Vol. VI-C, 19:1-8. Yin had a total of five residents when Yao was a resident at Pleasant Day. Vol. II, 738:12-25. Yin has been married for approximately 25 years. RP Vol. VI-C, 5:7-8. She has three daughters, ages 24, 22, and 20. *Id* at 5:12-19. She graduated from Central Washington University in 1986 with a degree in marketing and minor in computer and data processing. *Id* at 5:23-6:3.

Yin opened Pleasant Day in 2005. RP Vol. VI-C, 22:8-16. The business is licensed as an adult family home by the state of Washington. RP Vol. VI-C, 7:20-25. Yin is licensed by the state as a certified nurse assistant (CNA). She received training to become a CNA. RP Vol. VI-C, 6:22-25. Yin is certified by the state of Washington to provide care to residents with dementia. RP Vol. VII-A, 53:22-25; Vol. VII, 740:21-741:4.

Yin's mother developed dementia and suffered from cancer for approximately 12 years. RP Vol. VI-C, 8:4-8. Yin provided care to her mother. Yin used the Chinese Information Services and Counseling (CISC) to help her with obtaining a contract with DSHS to get paid for providing care to her mother who suffered from dementia. RP Vol. VI-C, 12:12-17. CISC is the same service business that helped Yao's family obtain a DSHS assessment and financial assistant. *Id* at 35:24-36:3.

Yin was aware that Yao suffered from Parkinson's disease and dementia prior to accepting her as a new resident of Pleasant Day. *Id* at 32:16-20. She studied computer science in college and knew how to do research on a computer. RP Vol. VI-C, 6:2-9. She wrote in her chart notes on Yao for July 7, 2008 that she "can't keep Yao's safety." RP Vol. VI-C, 70:7-16. Yet she continued to keep Yao as a resident of Pleasant Day. Yao would look for ways out of Pleasant Day facility almost daily from when she first became a resident per Yin. RP Vol. VI-C, 71:19-72:17.

On August 30, 2008, 75 year old Yao, sustained injury when she fell and fractured her mandible and sustained related head injuries while she was a resident of Pleasant Day's facility. RP Vol. VII-A, 65:7-67:18. On September 14, 2008, Yao died as a result of the injuries she sustained in said fall. RP Vol. III, 365:12-25. The death certificate listed mandible fracture and blunt force injury to the head as a cause of death. *Id* at 365:12-366:8.

Yao was married to Yan for over 50 years at the time of death. Yan and Yao have two adult children, a son who lives in California, and a

daughter who lives in Washington State with her own two children. RP Vol. III-A, 4:15-22. The daughter was caring for her husband who was suffering from cancer during the time period her mother was a resident of Pleasant Day. RP Vol. VI-B, 10:15-25. She took her husband to Taiwan for cancer treatment in July 2008 for two to three weeks while her mother was at Pleasant Day. RP *Id*. Her husband subsequently died from cancer.

Yao and Yan met in China while she was a senior in college in 1956. RP Vol. II, 181:4-21. Yao developed Parkinson's disease and dementia in approximately 2005. RP Vol. II, 189:10-11; 191:3-4. She was a vulnerable adult per RCW 74.34.020 during her stay at Pleasant Day. *See* RCW 74.34.020 et. seq.

On August 30, 2008, Yao left Pleasant Day through the front door and went outside unsupervised. RP Vol. VII 839:1-849:18. Yin then followed Yao outside and saw Yao fall on the roadway. *Id.* Yao was then taken back to Pleasant day. *Id.* Yin did not call 911 but called Yao's husband. *Id.* Yan came to Pleasant Day and took his wife to Overlake Hospital. *Id.* Yao was later transferred to Harborview Hospital. *Id.*

On February 10, 2009, DSHS investigator, Katherine Ander (Ander), conducted an unannounced on-site investigation of Pleasant Day. RP Vol. V, 617:17-618:1. She reviewed records and interviewed Yin and

at least one other resident who lived at Pleasant Day when Yao was there. Id. at 618:2-15.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This court reviews the trial court's rulings on admissibility of evidence under the abuse of discretion standard. *Equitable Life Leasing Corp v. Cedar Brook, Inc.*, 52 Wash.App. 497, 761 P. 2d 77 (1988). A trial court abuses its discretion when its ruling is based on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. *Havens v. C+D Plastics, Inc.*, 876 P. 2d 435 (1994).

However, questions of law are reviewed de novo. Berger v. Sonneland, 144 Wash.2d 91, 26 P.3d 257 (2001).

B. The trial court erred in denying plaintiff's motion to dismiss defendants' "empty chair" and affirmative defenses, and in failing to exclude said evidence.

On March 30, 2012, Yan filed a motion to dismiss defendant's "empty chair" and affirmative defenses. CP 1506-1516. The trial court denied the motion. The burden of proving an affirmative defense is on the defendant. *Robertson v. Club Ephrata*, 48 Wash. 2d 285, 293 P. 2d 752 (1956). Yan now seeks review and a reversal of said decision under the *de novo* review standard. The legal question presented to the trial court was whether the two alleged "empty chair" entities owed a duty of care to the

plaintiff. Whether a duty exists is a question of law. *Webstad v. Stortini*, 83 Wash. App 857, 924. P. 2d940 (1996). The question posed is whether Yao's family and DSHS owed Yao a duty to protect her from the negligent and neglectful acts of Pleasant Day and Yin, even though they had no control over Pleasant Day and Yin, nor custody and control over Yao while she was a resident of Pleasant Day.

1. DSHS did not owe a duty to protect Yao from negligent and neglectful acts of the defendants.

The Legislature has the power to determine the scope of governmental immunity from lawsuits. The Legislature removed Washington's shield of absolute sovereign immunity. See RCW 4.96.010. However, under the "public duty doctrine" which modified the traditional concept of sovereign immunity:

The threshold determination in a negligence action is whether a duty of care is owed by the defendant to the plaintiff. Whether the defendant is a governmental entity or a person, to be actionable, the duty must be one owed to the injured plaintiff, and not one owed to the public in general. This basic principle of negligence law is expressed in the 'public duty doctrine'."

Babcock v. Mason County Fire District No. 6, 144 Wash.2d. 774, 30 P.3d 1261 (2001) citing Taylor v. Stevens County, 111 Wash. 2d 159, 759 P. 2d 447 (1988). Emphasis added. The policy behind the public duty doctrine

is that legislation for the public benefit should not be discouraged by subjecting the government to unlimited liability for individual damages. *Taylor v. Stevens County*, 111 Wash.2d 159, 163, 759 P.2d 447 (1988).

The issue presented here is controlled on all points by this Court's holding in *Donohoe*, this Court's most recent and definitive explanation of DSHS' duty and liability when it has done an assessment and is paying for a vulnerable adult's care at a nursing home or an adult family home. *Donohoe v. State of Washington*, 135 Wash.App. 824, 142 P.3d 654 (2006) (where a resident accepted into a nursing home after a DSHS assessment was done and where the home was paid by DSHS and Medicaid, and where the family twice complained to DSHS that the resident was being neglected, and the resident lost 10 pounds during a two week period and allegedly was left lying in feces-soiled linens, and DSHS conducted two on-site inspections, the Court held no duty existed under the public duty doctrine). The *Donohoe* Court stated at 841:

Pacific Care was solely responsible for hiring and supervising Mrs. Donohoe's daily, private, nursing home caregivers. It was Pacific Care that breached this duty of care and compensated her Estate for its tortious, inadequate care and negligent supervision. As the trial court noted,

Although, there was some direct contact between DSHS and Mrs. Donohoe in order to do assessments to determine the level of care benefits DSHS would pay,

there were no express assurances that she could justifiably rely on in order to complete the requirements for the special relationship exception ...

Donohoe, 135 Wash. App at 841. The Donohoe Court further state:

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