08926-6

No. 68976-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HU YAN, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of GUIZHEN YAO, deceased,

Appellant,

v.

PLEASANT DAY ADULT FAMILY HOME, INC., P.S., a Domestic Corporation, YU CHEN YIN and unknown JOHN DOES,

Respondents/Cross-Appellants,

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS/CROSS-APPELLANTS

King County Superior Court Cause No. 10-2-35293-7 SEA

PAMELA M. ANDREWS, WSBA #14248 ANDREWS • SKINNER, P.S. 645 Elliott Avenue West, Suite 350 Seattle, WA 98119 206-223-9248/ Fax: 206-623-9050 Attorneys for Respondents/Cross-Appellants



ORIGINAL

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

the court may review legislative history to determine the scope and purpose of the statute. *Wash. Fed'n of State Employees v. State*, 98 Wn.2d 677, 684-85 (1983).

B. Decision to Permit Empty Chair Defense and Theory of Contributory Negligence to Be Presented to Jury Was Proper.

Appellant challenges the trial court's denial of his motion to strike Respondents' affirmative defenses regarding an "empty chair" and contributory negligence. App. Br. at 13-21. In his Motion to Strike, Appellant argued that the question was whether DSHS and members of Ms. Yao's family, who were her healthcare agents, had a duty to "protect her from the negligence and neglect of defendants." CP 1511. This is not the proper inquiry. The issue is whether DSHS and Ms. Yao's family members who were her healthcare agents owed a duty to Ms. Yao relative to her safety. As the trial court recognized, as healthcare agents, Mr. Yan and Ms. Gwo owed a duty to provide accurate and reliable information regarding Ms. Yao and Ms. Yao's healthcare assessments for purpose of her placement in an appropriate care facility. RP 95-96. Moreover, after protracted oral argument, the trial court considered and properly rejected Appellant's arguments, concluding that the level of involvement by DSHS created a special relationship and there was sufficient evidence for the matter to present DSHS's actions to the trier of fact. RP 5-30, 94-95. The trial court did not abuse its discretion under either ruling regarding defendants' affirmative defenses.

1. <u>Trial Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion in Denying the</u> Motion to Strike Defendants' Empty Chair Defense.

Ms. Yao was an incompetent adult.³ As such, she appointed her husband, Mr. Yan, and daughter, Ms. Gwo, as the persons who were to make medical decisions on her behalf. In doing so, Ms. Yao authorized Mr. Yan and Ms. Gwo to act on her behalf with respect to medical decisions. CP 1365-68; RCW 7.70.065(1)(a)(ii). As her mother's healthcare **agent**, any decision Ms. Gwo made on her mother's behalf had "the same effect and inure to ... bind the principal ... as if the principal were alive, competent, and not disabled." RCW 11.94.010. Mr. Yan, as Ms. Yao's husband, was also authorized to give or withdraw consent for Ms. Yao's medical treatment. CP 1368; *see also* RCW 7.70.065(1)(a)(ii).

As such, Mr. Yan and Ms. Gwo owed duties to Ms. Yao and also acted on behalf of Ms. Yao: they stepped into Ms. Yao's shoes, and were solely responsible for medical decisions made on her behalf. Therefore, these family members can be deemed at-fault entities or their actions can be imputed to constitute contributory negligence.

³ Defendant's affirmative defense that Ms. Yao was responsible for her own injuries relates to the decisions made by her medical agents, Ms. Gwo and Mr. Yan.

WPI 11.01⁴ defines Contributory Negligence as:

... negligence on the part of a person claiming injury or damage that is a proximate cause of the injury or damage claimed.

RCW 4.22.015 states that "fault" includes breach of warranty, unreasonable assumption of risk, and unreasonable failure to avoid an injury or to mitigate damages. A comparison of fault must consider both the nature of the conduct of the parties to the action and the extent of the causal relation between such conduct and the damages. *Id.*

To determine whether a person was contributorily negligent, the trier of fact asks whether that person exercised that reasonable care for his or her own safety that a reasonable person would have used under the existing facts or circumstances, and, if not, whether such conduct was a legally contributing cause of the injury. *See Rosendahl v. Lesourd Methodist Church*, 68 Wn.2d 180, 182 (1966); *Huston v. First Church of God, of Vancouver*, 46 Wn. App. 740, 747 (1987). Here, where Mr. Yan and Ms. Gwo had duties as Ms. Yao's health care agents and were also acting as Ms. Yao's medical decision-makers, the question is whether they acted reasonably to care for her safety and to avoid injury.

Mr. Yan and Ms. Gwo had a duty to act reasonably with respect to

⁴ WPI 15.04 governs negligence of a defendant concurring with other causes. However, this instruction is inapplicable where "the third person was acting as an agent of either the plaintiff or defendant." Here, Mr. Yan and Ms. Gwo were acting as Ms. Yao's medical agent and decision maker, and thus WPI 11.01 is appropriate.

medical decisions on Ms. Yao's behalf, both as her family members and as her healthcare agents, in seeking and continuing her placement in an adult family home. They did not do so. The evidence presented to the trial court and during trial established that Ms. Gwo and Mr. Yan withheld key information which would have prevented Pleasant Day from accepting Ms. Yao as a resident. They ignored medical advice and placed Ms. Yao in an unsecured adult family home rather than a skilled nursing facility, as recommended by doctors. RP III-A 8:17-9:1; V-B 9-12. When Maria Yin repeatedly expressed concerns for Ms. Yao's safety, Mr. Yan and Ms. Gwo ignored her pleas and refused to move Ms. Yao to a facility which could properly care for her. Mr. Yan and Ms. Gwo had the power to move Ms. Yao to safety, and they repeatedly refused to do so.

The trial court's decision that there was sufficient evidence to submit the question of whether Mr. Yan and Ms. Gwo's actions constituted negligence, or in the alternative, their actions may be imputed to the plaintiff for her own contributory negligence was based on reasoned application of Washington law. The trial court's denial of Appellant's motion to strike should be affirmed.

2. <u>Trial Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion in Admitting</u> Evidence of Mr. Yan and Ms. Gwo's Involvement in Ms. Yao's Placement at Pleasant Day and Maria Yin's Efforts to Remove Ms. Yao from Pleasant Day.

-25-

Because introduction of evidence addressing the duty of care owed by Mr. Yan and Ms. Gwo as Ms. Yao's healthcare agents was warranted by Washington law and relevant to the issue of whether Maria Yin acted reasonably in her care of Ms. Yao, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in admitting evidence of Mr. Yan and Ms. Gwo's actions relative to Ms. Yao's care and placement at Pleasant Day. Contributory negligence is a question of fact and should be for the jury to decide. *Young v. Caravan Corp.*, 99 Wn.2d 655 (1983); *Clements v. Blue Cross of Wash.* & *Alaska*, 37 Wn. App. 544 (1984). As Appellants do not contest, the trial court properly instructed the jury on the issue of contributory negligence and the theory of negligence by Ms. Gwo and Mr. Yan alleged by the Respondents. CP 2201-3, 2209-13.

As such, Respondents were entitled to present evidence of Mr. Yan's and Ms. Gwo's actions (or non-actions) to the jury. The jury considered the evidence and made an adjudication of no negligence by any party. Its judgment should not be disturbed. Moreover, as discussed in *infra*, the jury made no adjudication of negligence in this case. Any error in admitting the evidence was harmless.

3. <u>Trial Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion in Finding</u> <u>Sufficient Evidence to Permit the Issue of DSHS's</u> <u>Negligence to the Jury</u>.

Appellant asserts that there was no special relationship between

DSHS and Maria Yin of Pleasant Day. App. Br. 17. Appellant again misstates the pertinent inquiry. The inquiry before the trial court was whether DSHS and Ms. Yao had a "special relationship" and whether DSHS owed Ms. Yao a duty to protect her safety and accurately assess and report her medical condition and needs.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion or err in finding there to be sufficient evidence to establish comparative negligence against DSHS. RP 95. "Under the public duty doctrine, the plaintiff seeking recovery from a municipal corporation in tort must show that 'the duty breached was owed to the injured person as an individual and was not merely the breach of an obligation owed to the public in general (i.e., a duty to all is a duty to no one)." *Taylor v. Stevens County*, 111 Wn.2d at 163 (1988). One exception to the doctrine is where a special relationship exists. *Caulfield v. Kitsap County*, 108 Wn. App. 242, 251 (2001). A special relationship exists when:

(1) there is direct contact or privity between the public official and the injured plaintiff which sets the latter apart from the general public, and (2) there are express assurances given by a public official, which (3) give[] rise to justifiable reliance on the part of the plaintiff.

Donohoe v. State, 135 Wn. App. 824, 835 (2006) (citation omitted). All three criteria were addressed by the trial court and were met here.

Appellant's reliance on *Donohoe v. State* is misplaced.⁵ The negligence alleged therein was not in evaluating the plaintiff. Rather, the negligence asserted in that case related to DSHS's alleged failure to evaluate and monitor the nursing home adequately. *Id.* at 657 ("[t]he thrust of the plaintiff's claim against the State [was] 'negligent investigation'"). Although DSHS also performed an assessment of the *Donohoe* plaintiff, the *Donohoe* court did not address the propriety of the individual assessment and recommendations. The *Donohoe* court concluded that DSHS does not have a special relationship to individuals in monitoring skilled nursing facilities, an issue not presented to the trial court or at issue in this appeal.

In contrast, the issue regarding Ms. Yao's assessment and recommendations does implicate a special relationship. First, there was direct contact between Ms. Yao and Ms. Ho. Ms. Ho was Ms. Yao's case manager and met with Ms. Yao and her family, including her healthcare agents, to interview them and assess the level of care required. Ms. Ho's assessment was part of the DSHS records. CP 1396. This was DSHS's

⁵ Similarly, Appellant's reliance on RCW 74.34.150 is also misplaced. The statute provides that DSHS cannot be liable for seeking or failing to seek a protective order on behalf of or with the consent of a vulnerable adult. RCW 74.34.150. The issue of DSHS's actions in this case is not with reference to obtaining or not obtaining a protective order. The issue of DSHS's negligence is relative to its preparation of a deficient assessment and failure to communicate information to the family and Respondent Yin regarding a vulnerable adult's medical condition and needs.

responsibility to Ms. Yao personally, not to the public in general.

Second, Ms. Ho received ARNP Lee's evaluation and recommendation but failed to advise Maria Yin of the specifics of ARNP Lee's recommendations or incorporate the extent of Ms. Yao's condition and recommended treatment into her assessment. Although Ms. Ho received ARNP Lee's letter about Ms. Yao's medical condition on June 23, 2008, Ms. Ho's assessment was incomplete when she sent it to Maria Yin later on June 23, 2008, and she failed to state that Ms. Yao was rejected by a skilled nursing facility due to her acuity level, was discharged from adult daycare because of her behavior, or identified her type of Parkinson's or dementia that is known for aggressive behavior and exit seeking. Ex 94. Furthermore, Respondents submitted the deposition testimony of their expert, Elizabeth Johnston, who opined that the information that Ms. Ho failed to communicate was "important information" for the operator of an adult family home to know prior to admitting a resident. CP 1397. Ms. Johnston testified consistently at trial noting that DSHS plays a role in the placement and clearly communicating to the family and the residence the needs of the patient. RP 921-22. Moreover, Appellant's expert testified that "DSHS evaluations ... are very important to placement in an adult family home. They are done by DSHS because DSHS pays for the adult family home stay. And they are there so that the adult family home has a very exact picture of what the needs of that patient are." RP 535:4-11.

Lastly, Ms. Ho undeniably made express assurances to Ms. Yao, through her agents, and to Maria Yin regarding the type of care Ms. Yao required and Ms. Yao's medical condition in the assessment. "An 'express assurance' occurs where an individual makes a direct inquiry and the government clearly sets forth incorrect information, the government intends that the individual rely on this information, and the individual does rely on it 'to his detriment." Donohoe v. State, 135 Wn. App. at 835. Here, Ms. Ho's assessment amounted to an "express assurance" of Ms. Yao's medical condition, and it was incomplete and inaccurate. As the proprietor of an adult family home, Maria Yin justifiably relied upon these assurances in determining whether to admit a patient. By failing to fully outline Ms. Yao's medical conditions and failing to mention key information such as that Ms. Yao had been previously rejected from both an adult family home and an adult daycare due to acuity and behavioral issues, Ms. Ho breached her duty to issue an accurate assessment and ensure the safe placement of Ms. Yao.

DSHS later breached its duty to Ms. Yao by failing to assist Maria Yin in re-placing Ms. Yao in a more suitable facility. The evidence was uncontroverted that Ms. Yin contacted DSHS to have Ms. Yao placed in facility that could properly address her medical condition. DSHS essentially abandoned Ms. Yao (and Maria Yin) when its employees failed to work with Ms. Yin or acknowledge her requests to re-home Ms. Yao.

Because the trial court's decision was based on sound interpretation of Washington law and was supported by the factual record, its decision regarding putting the issue of DSHS's negligence before the jury and admission of evidence related thereto should be affirmed.

4. <u>Trial Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion in Admitting</u> Evidence of DSHS's Involvement and Actions of Ms. Yao's Healthcare Agents as It Was Admissible to Show Maria Yin Acted Reasonably under the Circumstances.

Even if the trial court abused its discretion in denying Appellant's motion to strike affirmative defenses, the aforementioned evidence regarding Ms. Gwo and Mr. Yan's actions as healthcare agents or DSHS's actions was admissible and relevant to establish that Maria Yin acted reasonably given the circumstances and information provided to her. Thus, the court's error, if any, was harmless.

A trial court's ruling on an evidentiary issue is "harmless unless it was reasonably probable that it changed the outcome" of the case. *Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs.*, 164 Wn.2d 432, 452 (2008). Moreover, a jury verdict will not be reversed based on an evidentiary error unless the error was prejudicial. *Brown v. Spokane County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 1*, 100 Wn.2d 188, 196 (1983). "An error is not prejudicial unless it affects, or presumptively affects, the outcome of the trial." *Id*.

Here, the jury found no one to be negligent. There was no adjudication of negligence against Ms. Gwo, Mr. Yan, or DSHS. Ms. Yao had an accident for which no one person bore fault. There is no evidence to support that it is reasonably probable that the above-described evidence affected the outcome of the trial.

Moreover, the evidence as to the information Maria Yin had (or did not have) was relevant and admissible to show she acted reasonably given the circumstances and took reasonable steps to ensure Ms. Yao's safety when confronted with family resistance and receipt of incomplete information on Ms. Yao's medical condition and needs. Respondents were entitled to tell their story and have their side of the story heard. The evidence at issue regarding ARNP Lee's June 2008 letter, the fact that it was not communicated to Maria Yin prior to Ms. Yao's moving into Pleasant Day but was known by DSHS and the family prior to Ms. Yao's move-in date, and the decisions the family made with regard to placement and continued residency at Pleasant Day are all relevant to whether Maria Yin acted reasonably given the circumstances.

While the trial court properly exercised its discretion regarding the motion to strike, Respondents submit that it also properly exercised its

discretion regarding the admissibility of the evidence relating to DSHS and Ms. Gwo and Mr. Yan as it was relevant and admissible to show the circumstances under which Maria Yin was acting. Regardless, the decision to admit the evidence as it related to contributory negligence was harmless as there was no ultimate adjudication of negligence entered against Ms. Gwo, Mr. Yan, or DSHS. The trial court's order denying the motion to strike as to DSHS and to permit argument and evidence regarding DSHS's actions should be affirmed.

C. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Dismissing Appellant's Breach of Contract Claim Where Damages Sought for the Breach Were Not Recoverable.

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